70604-7

70604-7 No. 70607-7-1

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

TOWNE OWNERS ASSOCIATION, Plaintiff,

V.

BRIAN D. BECKMANN, et al., Defendants.

DCR SERVICES, LLC, Third-Party Plaintiff/Appellant

v.

THE CONDO GROUP, LLC, et al., Third-Party Defendants/Respondents.

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Christopher I. Brain (WSBA #5054) Email: cbrain@tousley.com Cale L. Ehrlich (WSBA #44359) Email: cehrlich@tousley.com 1700 Seventh Avenue, Suite 2200 Seattle, Washington 98101 206.682.5600

Attorneys for DCR Services, LLC, Third-Party Plaintiff/Appellant

ORIGINAL

I. INTRODUCTION

This case presents a straightforward question of statutory interpretation. The redemption statute defines a redemptioner as "[a] creditor having a lien by . . . deed of trust . . . on any portion of the property . . . subsequent in time to that on which the property was sold." RCW 6.23.010(1)(a) (2012). Unless "subsequent in time" means something other than "subsequent in time," DCR Services, LLC ("DCR") is a redemptioner and the superior court erred by granting The Condo Group, LLC's ("Condo Group") motion for summary judgment and by denying DCR's cross motion for summary judgment.

On August 5, 2011, the Condo Group was the high bidder on the property that is the subject of this lawsuit (the "Property") at a sheriff's sale. This sale was subject to a one-year redemption period. After the sale, but before the expiration of the redemption period, DCR loaned money to the owner of the Property, Brian D. Beckmann, and secured that loan with a deed of trust against the Property. DCR then gave notice to the King County Sheriff's Office of its intent to redeem the Property and tendered the redemption amount to the sheriff.

DCR has "a lien by . . . deed of trust" on the Property. That lien is "subsequent in time" to the lien for condominium assessments on which

the Property was sold. By the plain language of the statute, DCR is a redemptioner, and it took all steps necessary to complete redemption before the redemption period expired. The Condo Group opposed redemption on the ground that DCR could not be a redemptioner because DCR obtained its lien after the sheriff's sale.

The Condo Group argues that the timing of DCR's deed of trust defeats redemption because 1) DCR's lien was not extinguished by the sale – a requirement found nowhere in the statute; 2) the owner could not grant a deed of trust after the sale – a position contrary to more than 100 years of law that owners retain title during the redemption period; and/or 3) the Condo Group disagrees with the policy implications of allowing DCR to redeem – an argument that substitutes the Condo Group's policy judgments for the plain language of the statute.

As the material facts were undisputed, DCR and the Condo Group cross moved for summary judgment. The plain language of the statute notwithstanding, the superior court denied DCR's motion and granted summary judgment in favor of the Condo Group, holding that DCR was not a redemptioner and quieting title in favor of the Condo Group as against DCR. DCR respectfully requests that this Court reverse the decision of the superior court granting summary judgment in favor of the

Condo Group, and because the facts are undisputed, requests that this Court remand with instructions to enter judgment in favor of DCR.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- The superior court's Order on Cross-Motion for Summary Judgment of Third-Party Defendant, the Condo Group, LLC and Third-Party Plaintiff, DCR Services LLC dated May 17, 2013 granting the Condo Group's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment was in error.
- The superior court's Order on Cross-Motion for Summary Judgment of Third-Party Defendant, the Condo Group, LLC and Third-Party Plaintiff, DCR Services LLC dated May 17, 2013 denying DCR's Motion for Summary Judgment was in error.

III. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. Is DCR a redemptioner because it has a lien by deed of trust that is subsequent in time to the lien on which the Property was sold?
- 2. Is the Deed of Trust a valid lien against the Property because, under Washington law, Beckmann retained the right to encumber his property during the redemption period?
- 3. Can the Condo Group's policy concerns override the plain language of the redemption statute such that DCR is not a redemptioner?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The Sheriff's Sale

On March 7, 2011, the Towne Owners Association ("Towne") brought the underlying action against Brian D. Beckmann and Jane Doe Beckmann ("Beckmann") seeking judicial foreclosure of a lien against the property described as:

UNIT 38, TOWNE, A CONDOMINIUM. ACCORDING TO THE CONDOMINIUM DECLARATION RECORDED UNDER RECORDING NUMBER 20060609000380, AMENDMENTS THERETO, OF ANY, AND IN **VOLUME** 218 CONDOMINIUMS, PAGE(S) THROUGH 48, INCLUSIVE, IN KING COUNTY, WASHINGTON, TOGETHER WITH LIMITED **COMMON** ELEMENT(S), **PARKING** SPACE NUMBER(S) 68 AND 69.

(CP 1-4). The Property is commonly known as 3058 – 128th Avenue SE, Unit #38, Bellevue, Washington 98005. <u>Id.</u> Towne asserted a lien arising out of unpaid condominium assessments, including assessments for common area expenses. (CP 3-4). Towne also sought a judgment against Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems, Inc. ("MERS") that its rights in the Property, and the rights of anyone claiming through it, be adjudged inferior to Towne's lien and be forever foreclosed. (CP 2, 6).

Neither Beckmann nor MERS answered the complaint, and the superior court entered default judgment on May 19, 2011. (CP 18-22). Among other relief, the superior court entered a default judgment that Towne could foreclose its lien and the Property may be sold at a sheriff's sale and that the redemption period from the sheriff's sale would be one year. <u>Id.</u> On June 1, 2011, the superior court entered an order of sale, commanding the sheriff to seize and sell the Property. (CP 23-24).

The sheriff sold the Property on August 5, 2011. (CP 45-47). The Condo Group was the high bidder at the sale. <u>Id.</u>

B. DCR Redeemed From The Sheriff's Sale

Following the sale, DCR contacted Beckmann regarding his interest in the Property. On April 18, 2012, DCR loaned Beckmann \$2,500 to be secured by a deed of trust against the property. (CP 400). On the same day, Beckmann executed, and DCR recorded, a deed of trust against the Property (the "Deed of Trust") (CP 248-50). This Deed of Trust is a lien against the Property that is subsequent in time to the lien on which the Property was sold and forms the basis for DCR's redemption.

¹ As discussed infra § V.B.2, Beckmann retained ownership of the Property during the redemption period.

On June 7, 2012, before the redemption period expired, DCR provided notice to the King County Sheriff that it intended to redeem the Property on June 14, 2012. (CP 252). DCR enclosed a copy of the Deed of Trust, a Declaration from Gary DeBoer stating the amount due on the promissory note, and a check for \$103.00 to cover the sheriff's fee. (CP 252, 257). The sheriff sent a "Notice to Purchaser" to the Condo Group informing it that DCR intended to redeem. (CP 254). On June 14, 2012, DCR tendered the calculated redemption amount of \$6,840.04 to the sheriff along with all documents necessary to redeem. (CP 259).

The Condo Group objected to DCR's redemption. (CP 254-55).

Ray Stevenson of the Condo Group wrote the sheriff claiming that the sheriff's sale of August 5, 2011 extinguished Beckmann's right to encumber his property and, therefore, DCR's lien was invalid. Id. The Condo Group denied that DCR had any statutory right to redeem and refused to cooperate in any redemption "unless and until a Court of competent jurisdiction [determined that DCR has] legal standing to demand a redemption or object to the issuance of a Sheriff's Deed in favor of [the Condo Group]." Id.

² All substantive acts that are the subject of this suit took place in 2012. The redemption statute has since been amended to read "subsequent in priority" rather than "subsequent

DCR responded to the Condo Group's letter, explaining to the sheriff that the Condo Group misstated the law, and that "the judgment debtor is the fee owner of the property and remains the fee owner of the property during the entire period of redemption until the sheriff's deed issues to the purchaser or the last redemptioner after expiration of the redemption period." (CP 259-60). As fee owner, Beckmann was "free to encumber or convey interests in the property (e.g., grant deeds of trust) during the redemption period." <u>Id.</u>

On June 18, 2012, the sheriff's office responded that "[t]here is clearly a dispute about whether [DCR] has redemption rights under 6.23.010." (CP 265). The letter stated that the redemption funds would be "deposited into the court registry with the Superior Court Clerk" and that "[t]he Sheriff's Office is merely an intermediary and has neither the authority nor the ability to resolve this matter." Id. Because the matter was in dispute, the sheriff declined to issue either a certificate of redemption or a sheriff's deed until it received an order from the superior court providing it clear direction. Id. This lawsuit followed.

in time." 5541.SL, 63rd Leg., 2013 Regular Session (July 28, 2013 effective date).

C. The Superior Court Erred In Granting Summary Judgment For The Condo Group

On February 15, 2013, the Condo Group moved for summary judgment, asking the superior court to order that: 1) DCR was not a redemptioner of the Property under RCW Chapter 6.23 (2012); 2) the statutory redemption period had expired and was not tolled; 3) title to the Property be quieted in favor of the Condo Group as against DCR; and 4) DCR's third-party claims against the Condo Group be dismissed with prejudice. (CP 435-36).

The Condo Group first argued that DCR was not a redemptioner because "DCR cannot satisfy the threshold requirement that redemption is only *potentially* available to a lien creditor which holds a lien that was **extinguished** by the Sheriff's sale." (CP 126-27) (emphasis in original). In response, DCR offered that the Condo Group's requirement of "extinguishment" was not found anywhere in the statute and was an invention of the Condo Group. (CP 356-57). DCR further pointed out that the *only* statutory requirement is that the redemptioner have a lien that is subsequent in time to that on which the Property was sold – a definition satisfied by DCR. Id.

The Condo Group next argued that DCR was not a redemptioner because "Beckmann's rights were 'extinguished' by the [sheriff's] sale" and "[s]imply put, after the Sheriff's sale, Beckmann did not have a right to encumber the property; any such right was 'foreclosed' by the sale."

(CP 128). DCR responded that the Condo Group's position was contrary to Washington law. The sheriff's sale does not extinguish the judgment debtor's title to his property; title remains vested with the judgment debtor until the expiration of the redemption period. (CP 359-61).

Finally, the Condo Group argued against DCR's status as a redemptioner based on "Policy Considerations" (CP 130). DCR responded that redemption is a statutory scheme that the courts have held is unambiguous in defining redemptioners; where a statute is unambiguous policy considerations do not override plain meaning. (CP 361-62).

Nonetheless, the Superior Court granted the Condo Group's motion for summary judgment.

D. The Superior Court Erred In Denying DCR's Motion For Summary Judgment Against The Condo Group

Both the Condo Group and DCR agree that the facts of this case are not in dispute. The only issue is whether, based on those facts, DCR is a redemptioner as a matter of law. If the superior court erred in granting the Condo Group's motion and finding that DCR was not a redemptioner, it necessarily follows that the superior court should have held DCR was a redemptioner.

As a result of the superior court's decision DCR timely initiated this appeal.

V. ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITY

A. Standard Of Review

The Court reviews summary judgment orders de novo, performing the same inquiry as the superior court. Hisle v. Todd Pac. Shipyards

Corp., 151 Wn.2d 853, 860, 93 P.3d 108 (2004). The superior court grants summary judgment when there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Morin v. Harrell, 161 Wn.2d 226, 230, 164 P.3d 495 (2007) (citing CR 56(c)).

It is the moving party's burden to demonstrate that summary judgment is proper. Atherton Condo. Apartment—Owners Assoc. Bd. of Dirs. v. Blume Dev. Co., 115 Wn.2d 506, 516, 799 P.2d 250 (1990). This Court will consider all the facts submitted and the reasonable inferences from them in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. Id. "Summary judgment is appropriate only if, from all the evidence,

reasonable persons could reach but one conclusion." <u>Lilly v. Lynch</u>, 88 Wn. App. 306, 312, 945 P.2d 727 (1997).

B. The Superior Court Erred In Granting Summary Judgment For The Condo Group

Although this case appears complex on the surface, the actual questions presented and principles involved are straightforward. First, is DCR a redemptioner? The redemption statute defines a redemptioner as "a creditor having a lien by . . . deed of trust . . . on any portion of the property . . . subsequent in time to that on which the property was sold." RCW 6.23.010(1)(b) (2012).³ DCR has a lien on the Property, by the Deed of Trust, and that lien is subsequent in time to that on which the Property was sold – DCR is a redemptioner.

Second, could Beckmann grant the Deed of Trust after the sheriff's sale? The longstanding law in Washington is that a judgment debtor retains title to his property until the redemption period expires. See Prince v. Savage, 29 Wn. App. 201, 205, 627 P.2d 996 (1981) ("A judgment debtor is the fee owner of the property and remains the fee owner during the entire period of redemption and until the sheriff's deed

³ Unless otherwise noted, all further references to RCW Ch. 6.23 are to the statute as it existed in 2012, not the amended statute that took effect on July 28, 2013. For ease of reading, further references omit the parenthetical '2012.'

issues to the purchaser or last redemptioner after expiration of the redemption period."). Beckmann retained title to the Property during the redemption period and retained the power to grant the Deed of Trust against the Property – the Deed of Trust is valid.

Third, can the Condo Group's policy concerns override the plain language of the redemption statute? The courts have held that RCW 6.23.010(1)(b) is unambiguous, and that 'subsequent in time' refers to the relative dates of the liens in question, not to any other standard such as lien priority. Summerhill Village Homeowners Ass'n v. Roughley, --- Wn. App. ---, 289 P.3d 645, 649 (2012). Courts do not construe statutes that are unambiguous. Whatcom County v. City of Bellingham, 129 Wn.2d 537, 546, 909 P.2d 1303 (1996). Where the meaning of a statutory provision is plain on its face, courts follow the plain meaning. Dep't of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn LLC, 146 Wn.2d 1, 9-10, 43 P.3d 4 (2002). The meaning of the redemption statute is plain on its face; the Condo Group cannot overcome the statute's plain meaning by substituting its policy concerns for the text.

DCR has a lien by deed of trust against the Property that is subsequent in time to that on which the Property was sold. DCR's lien is valid, because it was granted by Beckmann while he still held title to the

Property. DCR is a redemptioner, and the Condo Group cannot overcome this result based on its policy concerns. These principles are sufficient to decide this case; the majority of the argument below is directed towards rebutting defenses aimed at directing the Court away from these rules.

1. DCR Is A Redemptioner, Because Its Deed Of Trust Is Subsequent In Time To That On Which The Property Was Sold

In the superior court, the Condo Group argued that a lien obtained after the sheriff's sale cannot provide the holder with redemption rights.

The Condo Group's argument is contrary to the plain language of the redemption statute. RCW 6.23.010 provides that

Real property sold subject to redemption, as provided in RCW 6.21.080 . . . may be redeemed by the following persons or their successors in interest:

* * *

(b) A creditor having a lien by . . . deed of trust . . . on any portion of the property . . . subsequent in time to that on which the property was sold. The persons mentioned in this subsection are termed redemptioners.

RCW 6.23.010(1).5

⁴ The judgment debtor, or his successor in interest, may also redeem the property, but as the judgment debtor, rather than as a redemptioner. RCW 6.23.010(1)(a). DCR obtained a quit claim deed from the judgment debtor in this case, but has sought to redeem only as the redemptioner.

⁵ The statute has since been amended to read "subsequent in priority" rather than subsequent in time. 5541.SL, 63rd Leg., 2013 Regular Session (July 28, 2013 effective

The statute expressly defines a redemptioner as: 1) a creditor; 2) having a lien by deed of trust; 3) on any portion of the property; 4) subsequent in time to that on which the property was sold. RCW 6.23.010(1)(b). The only requirement with respect to the date of the lien is that it must be "subsequent in time to that on which the property was sold". The statute contains no language limiting redemption to liens "subsequent in time to that on which the property was sold [but prior in time to the sale itself]" or similar limitation. By necessity a lien obtained after the sale satisfies the statute. This makes sense because the judgment debtor still has the fee interest in the property and a right to redeem until expiration of the redemption period and therefore can pledge and encumber by deed of trust his interest in the property.

The Court of Appeals has addressed the meaning of "subsequent in time" and held that the language is unambiguous. <u>Summerhill Village</u>

Homeowners Ass'n v. Roughley, --- Wn. App. ---, 289 P.3d 645, 649

(2012) ("the language of the [redemption] statute is unambiguous")

date). DCR's redemption took place under the previous version of the statute. The new version of the statute does not retroactively apply to DCR's redemption. Washington courts strongly disfavor retroactive application of the law and presume that laws apply only prospectively. Marine Power & Equipment Co. v. The Human Rights, Comm'n Hearing Tribunal, 39 Wn. App. 609, 694 P.2d 697 (1985). Where, as here, the Legislature amends a law to alter the judiciary's interpretation of the law, the amendment can only apply prospectively. Id.

(published opinion, Wn. App. citation not yet available) ("Summerhill"). A lien subsequent in time unambiguously means a lien created after the date on which the lien of sale was created. Id. at 648-49. Courts do not construe statutes that are unambiguous. Whatcom County v. City of Bellingham, 129 Wn.2d at 546. Where the meaning of a statutory provision is plain on its face, courts follow the plain meaning. Dep't of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn LLC, 146 Wn.2d at 9-10. As the plain language of the statute establishes, subsequent in time is the sole requirement.

DCR is a redemptioner under the statute. DCR is a creditor, because it loaned money to Beckmann. DCR has a lien by the Deed of Trust it obtained from Beckmann. The lien is on the Property. And the lien is subsequent in time to that on which the sheriff's sale was conducted. DCR is a redemptioner.

a. The Redemption Statute Imposes No Requirement That A Lien Be Extinguished By The Sale

In the superior court, the Condo Group attempted to overcome the plain language of RCW 6.23.010 by suggesting that the issue is not whether DCR's lien is "subsequent in time" to that on which the Property was sold, but rather that DCR "cannot satisfy the threshold requirement"

that its lien "was extinguished by the Sheriff's sale." (CP 126-27). The Condo Group's requirement that a lien be "extinguished" by the sheriff's sale appears nowhere in the statute. Indeed, the word extinguish does not appear in the redemption chapter at all. See RCW Chapter 6.23.

The Condo Group should not be allowed to impose its own requirements on redemption beyond those that appear in the statute. As discussed above, the statute expressly defines redemptioners and states that if someone meets the definition of a redemptioner then the property "may be redeemed" by that person. RCW 6.23.010(1). DCR meets the definition of redemptioner and may redeem the property.

The Condo Group argued that the extinguishment requirement "flows directly from the 'subsequent in time' rule" but this argument is backwards. (CP 127). The subsequent in time rule may generally result in redemptioners being those whose liens were extinguished by the sale, but that is a result of the circumstances of each case, not a rule in and of itself.

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