NO. 70604-7-I COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION ONE OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

TOWNE OWNERS ASSOCIATION, Plaintiff,

v.

BRIAN D. BECKMANN, et al., Defendants.

DCR SERVICES, LLC, Third-Party Plaintiff/Appellant,

v.

THE CONDO GROUP, LLC, et al., Third-Party Defendants/Respondents.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT THE CONDO GROUP, LLC

APPEAL FROM KING COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT The Honorable Monica Benton, Case No. 11-2-08939-8 SEA

Jordan M. Hecker WSBA #14374 Joshua D. Brittingham WSBA #42061 HECKER WAKEFIELD & FEILBERG, P.S. 321 First Avenue West Seattle, WA 98119 Phone: (206) 447-1900 Fax: (206) 447-9075

Fax: (206) 447-9075 Attorneys For Respondent The Condo Group LLC

I.	INTRODUCTION
II.	ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR
III.	ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR5
IV.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE5
A B	Towne Commences The Underlying Foreclose Action Against eckmann.
В	. Condo Group Purchases Unit 38 At A Sheriff's Sale
C U	DCR Attempts To Purchase Redemption Rights From Beckmann Inder The Guise Of A "Loan" Transaction
	DCR Attempts To Redeem Solely Based On The Beckmann Deed f Trust
V.	ARGUMENT
A	Standard of Review. 13
B	The "Loan" To Beckmann Did Not Create A Valid Lien Upon Which DCR Could Redeem Its Interest.
	C. DCR Obtained The Beckmann Deed Of Trust Through A ransaction That Was Nothing More Than The Transfer Of A "Naked" ight Of Redemption
	O. The "Fee" Nature Of The Foreclosed-Upon Debtor's Interest Does Not Include The Right To Create An Unconditional Lien
	The Redemption Statute Does Not Specifically Address Whether A Party Can Acquire A Redemption Right Based On A Post-Sale Deed Of Trust
	Historical Property Law Principles Establish That The Beckmann Deed Of Trust Does Not Create An Unconditional Lien That Gives Rise To A Right Of Redemption
	The Beckmann Deed Of Trust Was Not Extinguished By The Sale and Should Not Provide A Right Of Redemption To DCR As A Non-arty To The Foreclosure Action

F.	F	Fundamental Policy Considerations Support The Position That
DO	CR	Does Not Have A Right To Redeem
	1.	The Policy In Favor Of Stability Of Title Should Result In A
	Det	termination That DCR Is Not Entitled To Redeem Based On The
	Bed	ckmann Deed Of Trust
	2.	Adopting DCR's Approach In This Case Would Harm Judgment
	Del	btors And Foreclosing Plaintiffs As A Class

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

A. Cases

Cascade Sec. Bank v. Butler,
88 Wn.2d 777, 567 P.2d 631 (1977)27, 29
City of Tacoma v. Perkins,
42 Wash.2d 80, 253 P.2d 957 (1953)
Cochran v. Cochran,
114 Wash. 499, 198 P. 270 (1921)
DeRoberts v. Stiles,
24 Wash. 611, 64 P. 795 (1901)
DeYoung v. Cenex Ltd.,
100 Wash.App. 885, 1 P.3d 587 (2000)
Fid. Mut. Sav. Bank v. Mark,
112 Wn.2d 47, 767 P.2d 1382 (1989) 17, 18, 19, 20
Ford v. Nokomis State Bank,
135 Wash. 37, 237 P. 314 (1925)
Frisino v. Seattle School Dist. No. 1,
160 Wn.App. 765, 249 P.3d 1044 (2011)
GESA Fed. Credit Union v. Mut. Life Ins. Co. of New York,
105 Wn.2d 248, 713 P.2d 728 (1986)
Graves v. Elliott,
69 Wn.2d 652, 419 P.2 1008 (1966)
Gray v. C. A. Harris & Son, Inc.,
200 Wash. 181, 93 P.2d 385 (1939)
Kendrick v. Davis,
75 Wn.2d 456, 452 P.2d 222 (1969)
Lawson v. Helmich,
20 Wn. 2d 167, 146 P.2d 537 (1944)27
Millay v. Cam,
135 Wn.2d 193, 955 P.2d 791 (1998)
Plummer v. Ilse,
41 Wash. 5, 82 P. 1009 (1905)
Prince v. Savage,
29 Wash. App. 201, 627 P.2d 996 (1981)
Sandberg v. Murphy,
134 Wash. 685, 236 P. 106 (1925)

Seattle Med. Ctr., Inc. v. Cameo Corp.,
54 Wn.2d 188, 339 P.2d 93 (1959)
Singly v. Warren, 18 Wash.
434, 51 P. 1066 (1898)
State ex rel. Oatey Orchard Co. v. Superior Court,
154 Wash. 10, 280 P. 350 (1929)
Summerhill v. Roughley,
Wn. App, 289 P.3d 645 (2012)
Tanner Electric Cooperative v. Puget Sound Power & Light Co.,
128 Wn.2d 656, 911 P.2d 1301 (1996)
W. T. Watts, Inc. v. Sherrer,
89 Wn.2d 245, 571 P.2d 203 (1977)24, 25, 31, 33, 34
Whatcom Cnty. v. City of Bellingham,
128 Wn.2d 537, 909 P.2d 1303 (1996)
B. Statutes
RCW 4.56.190
RCW 6.23
RCW 6.23.010(1)(b)
RCW 6.23.010(2)
RCW 6.23.020(1)(a)
RCW 6.23.020(1)(b)
RCW 6.23.040(1)
RCW 6.23.040(2)
RCW 6.23.060
RCW 6.23.110(1)
RCW 61.30.010(1)
RCW 64.34.364(1)
C. Secondary Authority
17 Wash. Prac., Real Estate § 1.1 (2d ed.)
17 Wash. Prac., Real Estate § 1.22 (2d ed.)
17 Wash. Prac., Real Estate § 1.7 (2d ed.)
D. Pules
D. Rules
CR 56(c)

•

•

I. INTRODUCTION

The Trial Court decision correctly recognized that there was never a "loan" transaction that actually took place. The Appellant, DCR Services LLC ("DCR"), is attempting to redeem a lien interest for a non-recourse "loan" which was a lending transaction in name only. In short, DCR's attempt to redeem was based on security for a loan that was illusory, at best.

DCR's seeks a determination that is an authorized redemptioner under RCW Ch. 6.23 (the "Redemption Statute). It provides a possible right of redemption to (1) lien creditors; and (2) the judgment debtor. *See* RCW 6.23.010. If proper, redemption would strip title from Condo Group as the foreclosure sale purchaser.

In this case, DCR obtained an assignment of the interest of the Defendant and Judgment Debtor, Brian D. Beckmann ("Beckmann"). However, as part of the same post-foreclosure-sale transaction, DCR supposedly loaned Beckmann \$2,500. The loan was non-recourse; Beckmann was not personally liable for repayment. Instead, Beckmann granted a deed of trust on the subject property. Thus, DCR's only security for the repayment of the non-recourse loan was a "lien" on its own property.

Ultimately, it is nonsensical to secure a loan to a third party by placing a "lien" on the lender's property. DCR's purported deed of trust "lien" flowing from the "loan" transaction with Beckmann is ineffective. In other words, there was never an obligation capable of being secured by a lien and a lien cannot exist in the absence of such an underlying obligation.

Even if the Court determines the purported "loan" transaction was valid and somehow created a "lien" on DCR's own property, substantively the transaction was an improper attempt to transfer a "naked" right of redemption to the subject property. To create the illusion of compliance with the rule against such a "naked" transfer of a redemption right, DCR took great pains to create the appearance of a valid "loan" transaction.

The "loan" transaction was nothing more than an attempt to transfer the redemption rights. After all, the debtor Beckmann's ownership rights were transferred to DCR as part of the same transaction. Had those rights been exercised, the separate deed of trust interest of Third-Party Defendant, Bank of America N.A. ("BANA") would have reattached to the property. DCR and Beckmann tried to avoid this problem by the sham loan/assignment of the right to redemption. There is no other purpose to provide a "non-recourse" loan to a third party, secured by property you already own.

Even if the loan transaction is valid as a naked assignment of the redemption right, the "fee" nature of the foreclosed-upon debtor's reversionary interest (*i.e.* assigned from Beckmann to DCR) does not include the right to create the subject lien. In short, DCR ignores the complicated nature of real property rights by arguing that it is entitled to redeem as a lien creditor based on a deed of trust granted by the judgment debtor Beckmann after the foreclosure sale (the "Beckmann Deed of Trust"). DCR claims that the Redemption Statute expressly permits DCR to redeem because the Beckmann Deed of Trust is "subsequent in time" to the condominium assessment lien on which the underlying foreclosure action is based. The view is overly simplistic. Indeed, taken to its logical conclusion, even an invalid lien confers redemption benefits on its holder.

Simply put, DCR should not be entitled to redeem; the Beckmann Deed Of Trust does not provide DCR with an unconditional lien in its favor. If anything, the Beckmann Deed of Trust only provides a conditional property interest which evaporates upon expiration of the applicable one (1) year redemption period. The only exception is the scenario in which the judgment debtor (*i.e.* Beckmann) exercises the debtor's right to redeem, thereby restoring title to the subject property as though the foreclosure sale had not occurred. However, DCR (as Beckmann's purported assignee) is not attempting to redeem in the

capacity of the judgment debtor.

Finally, DCR should not be entitled to redeem because the Beckmann Deed Of Trust was not extinguished by the foreclosure sale and DCR was not a party to the underlying foreclosure action. The policies in favor of stability of title and for the protection of both judgment debtors and foreclosing lien holders support the determination that DCR should not be entitled to redeem under the circumstances.

Accordingly, Respondent The Condo Group LLC ("Condo Group") opposed DCR's improper attempt to redeem. DCR's claim that Condo Group opposed the redemption solely "because DCR obtained its lien after the sheriff's sale" is incorrect. As shown above, there are independent (though at times interrelated) arguments which establish that DCR is not entitled to redeem. A determination in Condo Group's favor on one (1) or more of these issues is fatal to DCR's appeal. Thus, Condo Group respectfully requests that the Court affirm Judge Benton's rulings. DCR is not an authorized redemptioner.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Condo Group accepts Judge Benton's Order in this case. Condo Group does not make any assignments of error.

III. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. Whether the Beckmann/DCR transaction created a valid loan on which a lien could be created.
- 2. Whether DCR may redeem as a beneficiary under the Beckmann Deed of Trust where the loan transaction between DCR and Beckmann was simply an attempt to transfer a "naked" right of redemption.
- 3. Whether DCR should be entitled to redeem where the Beckmann Deed Of Trust does not provide DCR with an unconditional lien in its favor and is not valid to the extent necessary to give rise to any right of redemption.
- 4. Whether the Beckmann Deed Of Trust should give rise to a right of redemption when it was not extinguished by the sale and DCR was not a party to the underlying foreclosure action.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Towne Commences The Underlying Foreclose Action Against Beckmann.

On March 7, 2011, Towne commenced this action against Beckmann to obtain a Judgment for delinquent common expense assessment. CP 3-4 (Amended Complaint at 3-4, ¶¶ 9-10). Towne also sought to foreclose a condominium assessment lien on the unpaid assessments (the "Towne Lien") against the property commonly known as 3058 – 128th Avenue S.E., Unit No. 38, Bellevue, King County, Washington 98005-5158 ("Unit 38") and legally described as follows:

UNIT 38, TOWNE, A CONDOMINIUM, ACCORDING TO THE CONDOMINIUM DECLARATION RECORDED UNDER RECORDING NUMBER 20060609000380, AND AMENDMENTS THERETO, IF ANY, AND IN VOLUME 218

OF CONDOMINIUMS, PAGE(S) 36 THROUGH 48, INCLUSIVE, IN KING COUNTY, WASHINGTON;

TOGETHER WITH LIMITED COMMON ELEMENT(S), PARKING SPACE NUMBER(S) 68 AND 69.

Tax Parcel No.: 8666430-0380-04.

CP 3-4 (Amended Complaint at 3-4, ¶¶ 9-10).

In addition to Beckmann, Towne named Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems, Inc. ("MERS"), alleging that MERS was "listed as the beneficiary on deed(s) of trust recorded against [Unit 38]". CP 2 (Amended Complaint at 2, ¶ 3). Beckmann and MERS both failed to answer the complaint. CP 18-22 (Judgment, Order and Decree).

On May 19, 2011, the Court entered a Default Judgment and Foreclosure Decree in favor of Towne (the "Towne Judgment/Decree"). CP 18-22 (Judgment, Order and Decree). It provided for entry of a principal judgment in the amount of \$2,518.08 against Beckmann. CP 18-19. It also established the validity of the Towne Lien. CP 19. Further, the judgment foreclosed a deed of trust lien interest (the "BANA Deed of Trust"), which is purportedly now held by BANA. CP 143-144 (Deed of Trust at 1-2); CP 108 (BANA's Answer, Counterclaim, Cross-Claim And Fourth Party Complaint at 9).

The judgment was never paid. CP 495-498 (Motion To Confirm Sale); CP 27 (Bid Letter). As a result, on June 1, 2011, the Court issued a

Praecipe for an Order of Sale directing the Sheriff of King County, Washington (the "Sheriff") to seize and sell Unit 38. CP 23-24.

B. Condo Group Purchases Unit 38 At A Sheriff's Sale.

Subsequently, Condo Group learned of the pending Sheriff's sale of Unit 38 through public notices published in The Daily Journal of Commerce in June and July of 2011. ² CP 190-194 (Stevenson Declaration); CP 30-31 (July 1, 2011 Affidavit of Publication). After conducting thorough due diligence, Condo Group decided to bid on Unit 38 at the Sheriff's sale. CP 190-194 (Stevenson Declaration).

On August 5, 2011, the Sheriff sold Unit 38 at public auction to Condo Group, the highest bidder, for \$6,200.00.³ CP 195-197 (Certificate of Purchase); CP 25-26 (Sheriff's Return On Sale). The Court confirmed the sale on September 21, 2011.⁴ CP 45-47 (Order Confirming Sale).

The sale was based on the Towne Judgment/Decree. CP 20 (Judgment, Order and Decree at 3, ¶¶ 3-5). In part, it provides as follows:

3. If [Towne's] entire judgment amount is not paid forthwith

The Clerk accordingly issued the Order of Sale on June 1, 2011. CP 41-43.

Specifically, the Notices of the Sheriff's sale of Unit 38 appeared in The Journal of Commerce on June 3, June 10, June 17, June 24, and July 1, 2011. CP 30-31 (July 1, 2011 Affidavit of Publication).

While the sale was originally set for July 22, 2011, the Sheriff postponed it to August 5, 2011. CP 32, 29 (Postponement Notices).

The Sale Confirmation Order incorrectly stated that the sheriff's sale occurred September 6, 2011. CP 45-47 (Order Confirming Sale); CP 535-538 (Motion To Correct Sale Confirmation Order). On December 14, 2011, the Court amended the Confirmation Order to correctly state the August 5, 2011 sale date. CP 48-49 (Order Correcting Date Of Sheriff's Sale In Prior Sale Confirmation Order).

upon entry, [the Towne Lien] may be foreclosed and [Unit 38] may be sold by the Sheriff of King County on [Towne's] request...at a foreclosure sale in the manner provided by law....

* * *

- 4. The rights of...Beckmann and [MERS], and all persons claiming by through or under them, including mortgage lenders, are adjudged inferior and subordinate to [the Towne Lien] and will be forever foreclosed and extinguished, unless the full in rem judgment amount is paid prior to the time of the Sheriff's sale, except for the statutory right of redemption allowed by law, if any.
- 5. The redemption period following a sheriff's sale of [Unit 38] shall be one year. [emphasis and bracketed text added]

CP 20 (Judgment, Order and Decree at 3, ¶¶ 3-5).

Mirroring the language of the Towne Judgment/Decree, the Certificate of Purchase specifies a one (1) year redemption period from the August 5, 2011 sale; *i.e.* through August 4, 2012. CP 195-197 (Certificate of Purchase); CP 20 (Judgment, Order and Decree at 3, ¶ 5).

C. DCR Attempts To Purchase Redemption Rights From Beckmann Under The Guise Of A "Loan" Transaction.

Significantly, as of the August 5, 2011 Sheriff's sale, DCR did not exist as an entity. CP 139 (Secretary of State Report). Again, DCR did not register as a limited liability company until March 28, 2012. *Id.* At the time of the Sheriff's sale, DCR was non-existent and could not have had any right, title or interest in Unit 38. CP 76-82 (DCR's Third-Party Complaint). After the purchase, Condo Group immediately took

occupancy of Unit 38 and commenced renovation efforts, at significant expense. CP 190-194 (Stevenson Declaration).

DCR alleges that in April of 2012 – more than eight (8) months after the Sheriff's sale – it "acquired redemption rights" in Unit 38. CP 78 (DCR's Third-Party Complaint at 3, ¶ 3.6); CP 564 (DeBoer Declaration). Specifically, DCR alleges that on April 18, 2012 it executed a "Deed of Trust, Non-Recourse Note and Quit Claim Deed Agreement" with Beckman. CP 174 (Deed of Trust, Non-Recourse Note and Quit Claim Deed Agreement (the "DCR/Beckmann Agreement")).

The DCR/Beckmann Agreement provides as follows:

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